

# Sugarcane Pathogens: Detection and Elimination through *In Vitro* Culture

## Sandy Snyman<sup>1,2\*</sup> • Tania van Antwerpen<sup>1</sup> • Sumita Ramgareeb<sup>1</sup> • Sharon McFarlane<sup>1</sup>

 South African Sugarcane Research Institute, Private Bag X02, Mount Edgecombe, KwaZulu Natal, 4300, South Africa
 University of KwaZulu Natal, School of Biological and Conservation Science, Private Bag X54001, Durban, 4000, South Africa Corresponding author: \* sandy.snyman@sugar.org.za

### ABSTRACT

Commercial sugarcane cultivation, which involves: (a) multiple ratoons in the field for several years, (b) propagation by means of vegetative stem cuttings, (c) large areas under sugarcane monoculture, (d) production in tropical and subtropical climates, can exacerbate pathogen infestation and the spread of diseases. This paper reviews important diseases in sugarcane, methodology for detection of pathogens and highlights several interventions for pathogen elimination such as hot water treatment of stem sections and *in vitro* culture using meristematic cells as the initiation material. These have ensured a multi-faceted approach for disease management and enabled the production of material without pathogens such as *Leifsonia xyli* subsp. *xyli*, *Xanthomonas albilineans*, sugarcane mosaic virus and sugarcane yellow leaf virus. Additionally, international germplasm exchange may benefit by incorporating aspects of *in vitro* culture at various stage of the process.

Keywords: meristem excision, molecular testing, viruses

Abbreviations: CIRAD, Centre de Cooperation Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Developpement; DAS-ELISA, double antibody sandwich enzyme linked immunosorbant assay; EB-EIA, evaporative binding-enzyme immunoassay; HWT, hot water treatment; *Lxx*, *Leifsonia xyli* subsp. *xyli*; RT-PCR, reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction; RFLP, random fragment length polymorphism; SASRI, South African Sugarcane Research Institute; SCFDV, *Sugarcane Fiji disease virus*; SCMV, *Sugarcane mosaic virus*; SCSMV, *Sugarcane streak mosaic virus*; SCWL, *Sugarcane white leaf phytoplasma*; ScYLV, *Sugarcane yellow leaf virus*; SCYP, *Sugarcane yellows phytoplasma*; SrMV, *Sorghum mosaic virus*; TBIA, tissue blot immunosorbant assay; USDA, United States Department of Agriculture

## CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	12
OVERVIEW OF IMPORTANT DISEASES OF SUGARCANE	13
TECHNIQUES USED FOR PATHOGEN INDEXING	13
SUMMARY OF METHODOLOGY TO ELIMINATE PATHOGENS FROM SUGARCANE	14
Pre-treatment of setts	14
In vitro techniques	14
CHALLENGES FOR INTERNATIONAL EXCHANGE OF GERMPLASM	15
Pathogen diversity	15
Transport of <i>in vitro</i> material	15
POTENTIAL APPROACHES FOR PRODUCTION OF DISEASE-FREE MATERIAL	15
CONCLUSIONS	16
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	16
REFERENCES	16

## INTRODUCTION

Sugarcane is a tropical crop and is vegetatively propagated on a commercial scale. This enables transmission of a suite of organisms with disease-causing potential; a topic that has been well studied and reviewed (Rott *et al.* 2000; Zhang *et al.* 2006). Consequently, a range of diagnostic techniques from visual examination to molecular tests are used to assist in pathogen detection and disease management. Pathogen elimination from stem sections (setts) using chemo- and/or thermotherapy is moderately successful for the control of some pathogenic agents (Benda and Ricaud 1978; Bailey 1983), but viruses have not been easy to eliminate. This has been a serious limitation in the international germplasm exchange programme. The development of specific *in vitro* culture techniques has been a valuable tool in removal of certain systemic pathogens and this review serves to highlight successful interventions. Two techniques that involve aspects of *in vitro* culture for pathogen control that have not been discussed here include: (a) mutagenesis: where cells undergo somaclonal variation either as a result of the *in vitro* process or exposure to mutagenic agents while in culture and subsequently become disease resistant (Larkin and Scowcroft 1983) and (b) genetic engineering: where foreign genes are inserted into sugarcane to confer resistance to pathogens such as *Sugarcane mosaic virus* (SCMV) (Ingelbrecht *et al.* 1999) and *Sugarcane yellow leaf virus* (ScYLV) (Gilbert *et al.* 2009; Zhu *et al.* 2011).

# OVERVIEW OF IMPORTANT DISEASES OF SUGARCANE

The nature of the sugarcane plant and the manner in which it is grown often make it vulnerable to a wide range of diseases caused by bacteria, fungi, viruses and phytoplasmas. While some widespread and damaging diseases such as brown rust (*Puccinia melanocephala* H. & P. Sydow) and orange rust (*P. kuehnii* E.J. Butler) are not systemic, most of the economically important diseases affecting sugarcane are and can be transmitted by planting infected seed material (Rott *et al.* 2000). For this reason, the production and distribution of healthy seedcane is an important component of integrated disease management strategies adopted by many sugarcane industries (Hoy and Flynn 2001; Fortmann *et al.* 2006; McGuire *et al.* 2009).

Ratoon stunt, a bacterial disease caused by Leifsonia xyli subsp xyli (Lxx; Davis et al. 1984), is one of the most widespread diseases internationally and can cause yield reductions of between 10 and 50% (Bailey and Bechet 1986, 1995; Comstock 2002). The disease does not have obvious external symptoms and can therefore be spread unwittingly from one area to another. Another widespread and economically important bacterial pathogen, leaf scald (Xanthomonas albilineans Dowson 1943), exhibits striking symptoms and can cause entire sugarcane stools to die but latent infections can result in the disease escaping detection (Ricaud and Ryan 1989). The fungal disease smut (Sporisorium scitamineum H. & P. Sydow) occurs in most sugarcane-growing countries and can result in yield reductions of 10 to 75% depending on the severity of the disease, climatic conditions and susceptibility of the variety being grown (Ferreira and Comstock 1989; Rutherford et al. 2003). Red rot (Glomerella tucumanensis [Spegazzini] von Arx & E. Muller) is another important systemic fungal disease that may result in substantial sucrose losses in subtropical sugarcane (Viswanathan and Samiyappan 2002). Mosaic (SCMV and Sorghum mosaic virus [SrMV], both potyviruses) is currently one of the most important viral diseases affecting sugarcane, with losses of between 7 and 50% being reported (Singh et al. 1997; Grisham 2000; Viswanathan and Balamuralikrishnan 2005). Studies conducted in South Africa showed that the yield of a susceptible variety could be reduced by 45% when SCMV incidence is high (Fox and Bailey 1987). In fields severely infected with yellow leaf (ScYLV, a luteovirus), losses are estimated to be between 5 and 16% in South African varieties (Rutherford et al. 2004), and up to 25% in susceptible varieties grown in other countries (Vega et al. 1997). While Fiji leaf gall (Sugarcane Fiji disease virus [SCFDV]) is not as widespread as some of the other diseases mentioned and has largely been controlled through varietal resistance, it is still considered one of the most important diseases of sugarcane (Smith 2000) and is regarded as a significant threat to industries that currently do not have SCFDV (Frison and Putter 1993). White leaf (Rishi and Chen 1989) and leaf yellows (Cronje et al. 1998) are caused by phytoplasmas and both have been observed to have a negative effect on yield. Ratoon crops have been abandoned in the past in Thailand and Taiwan when severely infected with white leaf, but the effects of the disease have been mitigated through varietal resistance (Rishi and Chen 1989).

### **TECHNIQUES USED FOR PATHOGEN INDEXING**

Pathogen screening plays a vital role in limiting the spread of diseases in seedcane in commercial plantings and in international sugarcane germplasm exchange. Standard quarantine practices have been summarized by Frison and Putter (1993). Pathogens can remain latent and in low numbers in planting material, requiring diagnostic methods with high sensitivity, specificity and reliability for disease detection in sugarcane industries world-wide.

Prior to 2000, the main methods for diagnosing diseases were recognition of visual symptoms and isolation of pathogens such as X. albilineans on selective growth media, e.g. Davis et al. (1994). These methods remain integral to disease diagnosis in quarantine facilities. Both phase contrast (Gillaspie et al. 1973; Teakle et al. 1973; Bailey 1976) and immunofluorescence microscopy (Harris and Gillaspie 1978) are used for the detection of Lxx. The evaporative binding-enzyme immunoassay (EB-EIA) is currently used for the detection of Lxx on a large scale for commercial cane in Australia and South Africa (Croft et al. 1994; McFarlane et al. 1999). The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) is used for detection of SCMV (Gauer et al. 2002) and ScYLV (Schenck et al. 1997; Scagliusi and Lockhart 2000). Other diagnostic tests developed for the detection of ScYLV include: serological tissue blot immunosorbent assay (TBIA; Schenck et al. 1997) and double-antibody sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (DAS-ELISA; Scagliusi and Lockhart 2000; Chatenet et al. 2001).

During the 1990's molecular techniques were introduced to diagnostic laboratories for the detection of sugarcane pathogens. Molecular tests are able to detect low titres of microorganisms making them ideal for pathogen screening. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is used for the detection of *Lxx* (Pan *et al.* 1998; van Antwerpen and Botha 1999; Fegan *et al.* 2002), *Maize streak virus* (MSV; Rybicki and Hughes 1990), *X. albilineans* (Pan *et al.* 1997, 1999), *S. scitamineum* (Albert and Schenck 1996) and phytoplasmas such as those causing leaf yellows (SCYP), grassy shoot and white leaf (Deng and Hiruki 1991). Generic primers are available for the detection of *Luteoviridae* (Chomic *et al.* 2010) and *Potyviridae* (Hall *et al.* 1998; Chen and Adams 2001; Zheng *et al.* 2010) in sugarcane.

To detect the presence of SCMV, a reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PC $\hat{R}$ ) was developed (Smith and Van De Velde 1994). RT-PCR-RFLP (RFLP; random fragment length polymorphism) methods have been published for SCMV strain discrimination and detection of SrMV (Yang and Mirkov 1997). Subsequent refinement of this technique improved specificity and facilitated distinction of SCMV strains A, B, D and E, as well as strains from Africa not yet described (Alegria et al. 2003), but could not detect strains from China (Fernandez et al. 2006). Primers for potyviruses of *Poaceae*, developed by Marie-Jeanne *et al.* (2000), detected all strains of SCMV and SrMV but were unable to distinguish between these two viruses in a concurrent infection (Fernandez et al. 2006). Sequencing is currently the only reliable method to assess SCMV and SrMV genetic diversity (Perera et al. 2009). Amplification and sequencing a specific fragment from diseased sugarcane leaf samples confirmed the existence of several strains of Sugarcane streak mosaic virus (SCSMV) in Asia (Fernández et al. 2006). At the South African Sugarcane Research Institute (SASRI) and Centre de Cooperation Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Developpement (CIRAD) quarantine facilities, a one-step RT-PCR is routinely used for detection of SCMV as well as for other members of the potyviruses such as SrMV (van Antwerpen et al. 2005; Fernández et al. 2006).

Luteoviroids are usually present in lower concentrations than other viruses in plants and are restricted to phloem tissue which is more difficult to disrupt during sample preparation (Chomic et al. 2010). ScYLV can be detected using RT-PCR (Comstock et al. 1998) and quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR) (Zhu et al. 2010). RT-PCR can detect the virus in earlier stages of infection and is routinely used in quarantine facilities such as United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) (Xie et al. 2009), BSES Ltd (B Croft pers. Comm.), SASRI (van Antwerpen et al. 2005) and CIRAD (Girard *et al.* 2006). Although the TBIA is  $10^3$  to  $10^4$  fold less sensitive than RT-PCR (Zhu et al. 2010), it is a faster and cheaper method to detect ScYLV and can be used for rapid screening of large numbers of samples (Schenck et al. 1997). A multiplex RT-PCR test for the simultaneous detection of four sugarcane viruses (SCMV, SrMV, SCSMV and ScYLV) was developed by Xie et al. (2009).

Unknown pathogens causing symptoms in quarantined

Table 1 A review of in vitro explants used for multiplication of pathogen-free cells and treatments used for the elimination of sugarcane pathogens.

Explant	Pathogen(s) eliminated	Reference
1. Immature leaf roll	Lxx, ScYLV	Snyman et al. 2007
	ScYLV, SCYP	Parmessur et al. 2002
<ol> <li>Meristem excision</li> <li>Thermotherapy of setts, followed by meristem excision</li> </ol>	ScYLV	Chatenet et al. 2001; Fitch et al. 2001
	SCMV	Visessuwan et al. 1988, 1991, 1999
	SCMV, SCSMV	Mishra et al. 2010
	Lxx, X. albilineans, SCMV	Victoria et al. 1999
	ScYLV, SCMV	Ramgareeb et al. 2010
	Lxx, ScYLV	Guevara and Ovalle 2005
4. Chemotherapy of excised meristems	SCMV	Balamuralikrishnan et al. 2002
	SCWL	Wongkaew and Fletcher 2004

Lxx – Leifsonia xyli subsp. xyli, SCMV: Sugarcane mosaic virus, SCSMV: Sugarcane streak mosaic virus, SCWL: Sugarcane white leaf phytoplasma, ScYLV: Sugarcane yellow leaf virus, SCYP: Sugarcane yellows phytoplasma

material can be sequenced and compared to other sequences on the NCBI BLASTn database to establish the identity of the causal agent (van Antwerpen and Botha 1999). In the interests of biosecurity, van Antwerpen and Rutherford (2008) identified emerging new viruses that could potentially infect sugarcane in the future and designed or obtained generic primers for most viral families to allow screening of material in the SASRI quarantine glasshouse.

# SUMMARY OF METHODOLOGY TO ELIMINATE PATHOGENS FROM SUGARCANE

#### **Pre-treatment of setts**

Hot water treatments have been used since the 1920's to eliminate pathogens from plant material and heat regimes of between 34 and 52°C are commonly used to produce healthy plants (reviewed by Wang *et al.* 2007). The standard treatment for sugarcane setts is a cold soak in running water for 48 h to remove *X. albilineans*, followed by a hot water treatment of 50°C for 2-3 h to eliminate *Lxx* (Frison and Putter 1993; Dookun *et al.* 1996; Guevara and Ovalle 2005). Dipping in a broad-spectrum fungicide and insecticide is recommended (Frison and Putter 1993). Following sett treatment, thermotherapy is recommended during germination (2-3 weeks growth at 41°C after planting in trays; Guevara and Ovalle 2005).

Surface decontamination of sugarcane setts using detergent and/or ethanol, followed by germination of buds *in vitro* has been attempted for the removal of bacterial contaminants and to eliminate SCFDV (Wagih *et al.* 1995). However, only 28% of the germinated plants were virus free, suggesting that in addition to hot water treatments of setts and thermotherapy during germination of shoots, alternative methods and smaller explants (e.g. excised meristems) should be considered for propagation of virus-free cells.

#### In vitro techniques

Early work on plant meristems (Grout 1990) showed that the shoot and root tip meristematic cells of plants were free from virus for the following reasons: (a) meristematic cells have high metabolic activity and viruses were unable to replicate in all of these cells; (b) viruses spread rapidly through the plant by means of the vascular system and since the meristematic region does not have vascular tissue the viruses infect cells by osmosis spreading via the plasmodesmata. This is a slow process and viruses are therefore unable to infect dividing cells; (c) meristematic cells have a higher auxin concentration than cells from other regions of the plant and a high level of endogenous plant auxin is believed to inhibit virus replication.

Although no chemical or physical treatment is known to eradicate viruses from infected sugarcane plants, virus-free material can be propagated by: (a) meristem excision followed by either callus development and shoot multiplication (Leu 1978; Visessuwan *et al.* 1988, 1999; Fitch *et al.*  2001) or direct shoot organogenesis (Chatenet *et al.* 2001; Ramgareeb *et al.* 2010); (b) immature leaf roll culture followed by indirect somatic embryogenesis (Leu 1978; Dean 1982; Visessuwan *et al.* 1991, 1999; Parmessur *et al.* 2002), direct organogenesis (Irvine and Benda 1987) or direct somatic embryogenesis (Snyman *et al.* 2007) (**Table 1**). Most of these *in vitro* interventions resulted in pathogenfree plants in 80 to 100% of cases, emphasizing the need to verify the status of material derived from the process.

Success rates for eradication of virus vary and may be influenced by the size of the meristem, the susceptibility of the cultivar and the consequent viral load. For sugarcane virus elimination, a suitable meristem size likely to be free of virus is in the range of 0.2 - 1.5 mm in length (Chatenet et al. 2001; Fitch et al. 2001; Ramgareeb et al. 2010). Although it is difficult to successfully culture explants of a size less than 0.5 mm in length (i.e. meristem dome only), excision and subsequent in vitro establishment and recovery of plants of meristems sized 0.2 (Visessuwan et al. 1998, 1991, 1999) and 0.3 mm (Chatenet et al. 2001; Fitch et al. 2001) has been accomplished. To use explants larger than 0.5 mm and ensure virus eradication, meristem culture was linked with heat therapy (Victoria et al. 1999; reviewed by Zhang et al. 2006; Ramgareeb et al. 2010). The exposure of the parent material to high temperatures (30-40°C) is thought to inhibit viral RNA synthesis and inactivate the virus. Ramgareeb et al. (2010) demonstrated that ScYLV and SCMV were only removed from meristems in size categories of > 0.5 mm and = 2 mm but not for larger explants (> 2 but < 10 mm).

Other reported methods of virus inactivation include chemotherapy using the antiviral agent ribavirin for removal of SCMV (Balamuralikrishnan *et al.* 2002) and a combination of antibiotics and meristem culture for eliminating sugarcane white leaf phytoplasma (SCWL) (Wongkaew and Fletcher 2004).

An alternative explant to meristems, namely leaf discs excised from immature leaf whorls from diseased plants followed by direct somatic embryogenesis or direct organogenesis, was assessed for disease elimination (Irvine and Benda 1987; Snyman et al. 2007). It was shown that clean plantlets from cultivars N14 and N32 could be regenerated from explants infected with Lxx and ScYLV, respectively (Snyman et al. 2007). However, inconsistent results were obtained for SCMV, where 92% of the plants were found to be free of the virus in N32 and only 25% success was reported for a more susceptible variety, NCo376 (Snyman et al. 2007). Similarly, SCMV was eliminated from an average of 77% of the acclimated plants tested in the Irvine and Benda (1987) study. The approach using the leaf roll as an explant source and the in vitro technique of direct somatic embryogenesis is suitable for the elimination of some pathogens (i.e. Lxx and ScYLV) but limited in the case of SCMV – especially when viral titre is high.

Although little field trial data is available to compare the effect of disease-free *in vitro* plants on yield, two studies recorded improved yields when *in vitro*-derived material was compared with hot water treated setts and untreated



Fig. 1 A summary of the steps involved in processing sugarcane germplasm to facilitate international transfer. In addition to the conventional process (on left), two modified approaches have been proposed which incorporate meristem excision followed by *in vitro* culture for pathogen elimination and rapid propagation of clean material. \*Discard if positive for a pathogenic organism; \*\* *In vitro* material can be released from quarantine after one growth cycle if pathogen indexing is negative (Frison and Putter 1993; Bailey *et al.* 2000). However, some quarantine units (e.g. SASRI and USDA; van Antwerpen pers. comm.) elect to go through the conventional two cycles of vegetative propagation prior to release to open quarantine fields.

material in both Columbia (Victoria *et al.* 1999) and Florida, USA (Flynn *et al.* 2005).

# CHALLENGES FOR INTERNATIONAL EXCHANGE OF GERMPLASM

#### Pathogen diversity

While there appears to be little genetic variation in the global populations of Lxx (Young et al. 2006), studies have shown diversity in the populations of other important sys-temic diseases. The threat of new pathotypes of these diseases is significant when importing sugarcane from other countries as there may be low levels of inherent resistance in the germplasm of commercial varieties being grown in the recipient industry. S. scitamineum populations in the Americas and Africa show little variation (Braithwaite et al. 2004; Raboin et al. 2006) indicating that varietal resistance is a viable and stable management option in these regions. However, Asian populations formed a genetically distinct group and the diversity within this group was relatively high, which may pose a risk to other sugarcane industries (Braithwaite et al. 2004; Raboin et al. 2006). The SCMV complex consists of four distinct Potyviruses and includes many strains of the pathogen (Shukla et al. 1992; Yang and Mirkov 1997; Perera et al. 2009; Viswanathan et al. 2009). Three distinct pathotypes of ScYLV showing varying degrees of virulence have been identified in worldwide collections (Abu Ahmad et al. 2007).

In addition to pathogen diversity, another disease-related risk is unknown or previously uncharacterized diseases entering a sugar industry. The use of sensitive molecular methods to detect these threats especially when foreign varieties are imported through quarantine has reduced but not eliminated this risk in South Africa (van Antwerpen and Rutherford 2008).

#### Transport of in vitro material

The safest and preferred method for international germplasm exchange is via in vitro cultures (Frison and Putter 1993). In order to facilitate this, neither antibiotics nor charcoal should be added to the growth medium as temporary depression of viral loads or masking of pathogens is undesirable (Frison and Putter 1993). However, certain problems may be encountered when in vitro material is transported overseas: (a) sterile containers can be opened by uninformed customs officials, causing contamination and ultimately destruction of the consignment; (b) exposure to extreme temperatures in flight if placement in a particular compartment of the aircraft is not specified; (c) the cost of producing in vitro material is higher than that of setts; (d) not all quarantine facilities have the necessary expertise to send and /or receive in vitro cultures; (e) if material is shipped in semi-solid medium, proper handling en-route is necessary.

# POTENTIAL APPROACHES FOR PRODUCTION OF DISEASE-FREE MATERIAL

**Fig. 1** provides a summary of the procedures for processing sugarcane germplasm when received by a quarantine facility. In addition to the conventional procedure for handling imported material (Frison and Putter 1993), two slightly

modified procedures have been shown to demonstrate the advantages of meristem excision and *in vitro* culture for pathogen elimination, rapid propagation of clean material and reducing the length of time required for quarantine screening by one growth cycle if pathogen-indexed *in vitro* material is supplied (as suggested by Frison and Putter 1993; Bailey *et al.* 2000; Snyman *et al.* 2011).

### CONCLUSIONS

Varietal resistance is key to limiting the spread and impact of most of the important diseases affecting sugarcane, with emphasis currently being placed on breeding for smut, mosaic and brown rust resistance. Other management strategies for mosaic, smut and ratoon stunt include planting healthy seedcane and ensuring that fields are fallowed for a minimum of three months to enable the identification and removal of volunteers from the previous crop that may have been infected with these diseases. Sugarcane that is infected with Lxx can be cured over a number of years with a series of hot water treatments (50°C for 2 h) (Benda and Ricaud 1978) and a combination of thermotherapy and meristem tip culture is also reported to effectively eliminate the pathogen (Victoria et al. 1999). Smut can be eliminated from seedcane by hot water treating at 50°C for a minimum of 30 min in a fungicide such triadimefon (Bailey 1983). In contrast, once infected with mosaic, ScYLV or SCYP, sugarcane cannot be cured using hot water treatment alone, but meristem excision followed by in vitro culture can ensure propagation of virus-free cells provided that subsequent molecular pathogen diagnosis is conducted. In addition to producing virus-free plants, meristem culture also provides the following advantages of *in vitro* clonal propagation (Lee 1987), an internationally accepted method of plant production for export and import with respect to quarantine regulations (Frison and Putter 1993) and the cryopreservation of the apical meristem for long term storage of important commercial varieties (Taylor and Dukic 1993).

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank SASRI members of staff: G Meyer for proofreading the manuscript and helpful suggestions, and technical assistance from P Govender, M Banasiak, N Pillay and N Keeping.

### REFERENCES

- Abu Ahmad Y, Girard JC, Fernandez E, Pauquet J, Lockhart BEL, Le Tourmy P, Rott P (2007) Variation in virus populations and growth characteristics of two sugarcane cultivars naturally infected by sugarcane yellow leaf virus in different geographical locations. *Plant Pathology* **56**, 743-754
- Albert HH, Schenck S (1996) PCR amplification from a homolog of the bE mating-type gene as a sensitive assay for the presence of Ustilago scitaminea DNA. Plant Disease 80, 1189-1192
- Alegria OM, Royer M, Bousalem M, Chatenet M, Petershmitt M, Girard J-C, Rott P (2003) Genetic diversity in the coat protein coding region of eighty-six sugarcane mosaic virus isolates from eight countries, particularly from Cameroon and Congo. Archives Virology 148, 357-372
- Balamuralikrishnan M, Doraisamy S, Ganapathy T, Viswanathan R (2002) Combined effect of chemotherapy and meristem culture on sugarcane mosaic virus elimination in sugarcane. *Sugar Tech* **4**, 19-25
- Balamuralikrishnan M, Doraisamy S, Ganapathy T, Viswanathan R (2003) Impact of serial thermotherapy on sugarcane mosaic virus titre and regeneration in sugarcane. Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection 36, 173-178
- Bailey RA (1976) Some observations on the bacterium associated with ratoon stunting disease of sugarcane. Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association 50, 60-64
- Bailey RA (1983) The effect of soil and seedcane applications of triadimefon on the incidence of sugarcane smut (Ustilago scitaminea). Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association 57, 99-104
- Bailey RA, Bechet GR (1986) Effect of ratoon stunting disease on the yield and components of yield of sugarcane under rainfed conditions. *Proceedings* of the South African Sugar Technologists Association 60, 204-210
- **Bailey RA, Bechet GR** (1995) The effect of ration stunting disease on the yield of some South African varieties under irrigated and rainfed conditions. *Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association* **69**, 74-78

Bailey RA, Comstock JC, Croft BJ, Saumtally AS, Rott P (2000) Procedures

for the safe movement of sugarcane germplasm. In: Rott P, Bailey RA, Comstock JC, Croft BJ, Sauntally AS (Eds) *A Guide to Sugarcane Diseases*, REPERES Series, CIRAD Publishing Services, Montpellier, France and ISSCT 2000, pp 311-316

- Benda GTA, Ricaud C (1978) The use of heat treatment for sugarcane disease control. Proceedings of the International Society of Sugar Cane Technologists 16, 483-496
- Braithwaite KS, Bakkeren G, Croft BJ, Brumbley SM (2004) Genetic variation in a worldwide collection of the sugarcane smut fungus Ustilago scitaminea. Proceedings of the Australian Society of Sugar Cane Technologists 26, 1-9
- Chatenet M, Delage C, Ripolles M, Irey M, Lockhart BEL, Rott P (2001) Detection of Sugarcane yellow leaf virus in quarantine and production of virus-free sugarcane by apical meristem culture. Plant Disease 85, 1177-1180
- Chen J, Adams MJ (2001) A universal primer to detect members of the *Poty-viridae* and its use to examine the taxonomic status of several members of the family. *Archives in Virology* 146, 757-766
- Chomic A, Pearson MN, Clover GRG, Farreyrol K, Saul D, Hampton JG, Armstrong KF (2010) A generic RT-PCR assay for the detection of *Luteoviridae*. *Plant Pathology* 59, 429-442
- Comstock JC (2002) Ratoon stunting disease. Sugar Tech 4, 1-6
- Comstock JC, Irey MS, Lockhart BEL, Wang ZK (1998) Incidence of yellow leaf syndrome in CP cultivars based on polymerase chain reaction and serological techniques. Sugar Cane 4, 21-24
- Croft BJ, Greet AD, Leaman TM, Teakle DS (1994) RSD diagnosis and varietal resistance screening in sugarcane using the EB-EIA technique. Proceedings of the Australian Society of Sugar Cane Technologists 16, 143-151
- Cronje CPR, Tymon AM, Jones P, Bailey RA (1998) Association of a phytoplasma with a yellow leaf syndrome of sugarcane in South Africa. Annals of Applied Biology 133, 177-186
- Davis MJ, Gillaspie AG Jr., Vidaver AK, Harris, RW (1984) Clavibacter: A new genus containing some phytopathogenic coryneform bacteria, including Clavibacter xyli subsp xyli subsp Nov. and Clavibacter xyli subsp cynodontis subsp. Nov., pathogens that cause ratoon stunting disease of sugarcane and Bermudagrass stunting disease. International Journal Systematic Bacteriology 34, 107-117
- Davis MJ, Rott P, Baudin P, Dean JL (1994) Evaluation of selective media and immunoassasys for detection of *Xanthomonas albilineans*, causal agent of leaf scald disease. *Proceedings of the International Society of Sugar Cane Technologists* 21, 476-484
- Dean JL (1982) Failure of sugarcane mosaic virus to survive in cultured sugarcane tissue. *Plant Disease* 66, 1060-1061
- Deng S, Hiruki C (1991) Amplification of 16S rRNA genes from culturable and nonculturable Mollicutes. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 14, 53-61
- Dookun A, Moutia M, Mulleedadoo K, Autrey J-C (1996) Constraints in sugarcane micropropagation by tissue culture. Proceedings of the International Society of Sugar Cane Technologists 22, 314-324
- Evtushenko LI, Dorofeeva LV, Subbotin SA, Cole JR, Tiedje JM (2000) Leifsonia poae gen. nov., sp. nov., isolated from nematode galls on Poa annua, and reclassification of 'Corynebacterium aquaticum' Leifson 1962 as Leifsonia aquatica (ex Leifson 1962) gen. nov., nom. rev., comb. nov. and Clavibacter xyli Davis et al. 1984 with two subspecies as Leifsonia xyli (Davis et al. 1984) gen. nov., comb. nov. International Journal of Systematic Evolutionary Microbiology 50, 371-380
- Fegan M, Croft BJ, Teakle DS, Hayward AC, Smith GR (2002) Sensitive and specific detection of *Clavibacter xyli* subsp. *xyli*, causal agent of ratoon stunting disease of sugarcane, with a polymerase chain reaction-based assay. *Plant Pathology* **47**, 495-504
- Fernández E, Girard JC, Royer M, Rott P (2006) Molecular diagnosis and genetic diversity of the causal agents of mosaic and streak mosaic of sugarcane. VIIIth ISSCT Pathology Workshop, Petit-Bourg, Guadeloupe. 23-27 January 2006. Programme and abstracts available online: http://issct.intnet.mu/abstractpath.htm#1.4
- Ferreira SA, Comstock JC (1989) Smut. In: Ricaud C, Egan BT, Gillaspie Jr. AC, Hughes CG (Eds) Diseases of Sugarcane: Major Diseases, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 211-229
- Fitch MMM, Lehrer AT, Komor E, Moore PH (2001) Elimination of sugarcane yellow leaf virus from infected sugarcane plants by meristem tip culture visualized by tissue blot immunoassay. *Plant Pathology* **50**, 676-680
- Fortmann R, Brenchley PG, Mathew AK (2006) Selection and management of varieties through the Felixton Seedcane Scheme. *Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association* 80, 120-129
- Fox PH, Bailey RA (1987) Preliminary report on the effect of sugarcane mosaic virus on the yield of sugarcane varieties NCo376 and N12. *Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association* **61**, 1-4
- Frison EA, Putter CAJ (1993) FAO/IBPGR Technical Guidelines for the Safe Movement of Sugarcane Germplasm. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome/International Board for Plant Genetic Resources, Rome, 44 pp
- Gaur RK, Singh M, Singh AP, Singh AK, Rao GP (2002) Screening of sugarcane mosaic potyvirus (SCMV) from cane stalk juice. Sugar Tech 4, 169-171
- Gillaspie AG, Davis RE, Worley JF (1973) Diagnosis of ratoon stunting disease based on the presence of a specific micro-organism. *Plant Disease Re-*

porter 57, 987-990

- Gilbert RA, Glynn NC, Comstock JC, Davis MJ (2009) Agronomic performance and genetic characterisation of sugarcane transformed for resistance to sugarcane yellow leaf virus. *Field Crops Research* 111, 39-46
- Grisham MP (2000) Mosaic. In: Rott P, Bailey RA, Comstock JC, Croft BJ, Saumtally AS (Eds) A Guide to Sugarcane Diseases, CIRAD, ISSCT, pp 249-254
- Grout BWW (1990) Meristem-tip culture for propagation and virus elimination. In: Hall RD (Ed) *Methods in Molecular Biology* (Vol 111, Plant Cell Culture Protocols), Humana Press Inc, Totowa, New Jersey, pp 115-123
- Guevara L, Ovalle W (2005) Effect of treatments to eliminate systemic pathogens from sugarcane setts. Proceedings of the International Society of Sugar Cane Technologists 25, 623-627
- Hall JS, Adams B, Parsons TJ, French R, Lane LC, Jenson SG (1998) Molecular cloning, sequencing and phylogenetic relationships of a new potyvirus: sugarcane streak mosaic virus and a re-evaluation of the classification of the Potyviridae. *Molecular Phylogenetic Evolution* **10**, 323-332
- Harris AW, Gillaspie AG (1978) Immunofluorescent diagnosis of ratoon stunting disease. *Plant Disease Reports* 62, 193-196
- Hema M, Kirthi N, Sreenivasulu P, Savithri HS (2003) Development of recombinant coat protein antibody based IC-RT-PCR for detection and discrimination of sugarcane streak mosaic virus isolates from Southern India. *Archives Virology* 148, 1185-1193
- Hoy JW, Flynn JL (2001) Control of ratoon stunting disease of sugarcane in Louisiana with seedcane produced through micropropagation and resistant cultivars. *Proceedings of the International Society of Sugar Cane Technologists* 24, 417-421
- Ingelbrecht IL, Irvine JE, Mirkov TE (1999) Post-transcriptional gene silencing in sugarcane. Dissection of homology-dependent virus resistance in a monocot that has a complex polyploidy genome. *Plant Physiology* 119, 1187-1197
- Irvine JE, Benda GTA (1987) Sugarcane mosaic virus in plantlets regenerated from diseased leaf tissue. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 5, 101-106
- Larkin PJ, Scowcroft WR (1983) Somaclonal variation and eyespot toxin tolerance in sugarcane. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 2, 111-121
- Lee TSG (1987) Micropropagation of sugarcane (Saccharum spp.). Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 10, 47-55
- Leu LS (1978) Apical meristem culture and redifferentiation of callus masses to free some sugarcane systemic disease. *Plant Protection Bulletin (Taiwan)* 20, 77-82
- Marie-Jeanne V, Loos R, Peyre J, Alliot B, Signoret P (2000) Differentiation of Poaceae potyviruses by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction and restriction analysis. *Journal of Phytopathology* 148, 141-151
- McFarlane SA, Bailey RA, Subramoney DS (1999) Introduction of a serological method for large-scale diagnosis of ratoon stunting disease in the South African sugar industry. *Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists* Association 73, 123-128
- McFarlane K, McFarlane SA, Moodley D, Rutherford RS (2006) Fungicide trials to determine the effect of brown rust on the yield of sugarcane variety N29. Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association 80, 297-300
- McGuire P, Bambach G, Aitken R, Beattie R, Lokes S (2009) RSD control in the NSW sugar industry. *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Sugar Cane Technologists* **31**, 195-203
- Mishra S, Singh D, Tiwari AK, Lal M, Rao GP (2010) Elimination of Sugarcane mosaic virus and Sugarcane streak mosaic virus by tissue culture. Sugar Cane International 28, 119-122
- Pan Y-B, Grisham MP, Burner DM (1997) A polymerase chain reaction protocol for the detection of *Xanthomonas albilineans*, the causal agent of sugarcane leaf scald disease. *Plant Disease* 81, 189-194
- Pan Y-B, Grisham MP, Burner DM, Damann Jr. KE, Wei Q (1998) A polymerase chain reaction protocol for the detections of *Clavibacter xyli* subsp. *xyli*, the causal bacterium of sugarcane ration stunting disease. *Plant Disease* 82, 285-290
- Pan Y-B, Grisham MP, Burner DM, Legendre BL (1999) Development of polymerase chain reaction primers highly specific for *Xanthomonas albilineans*, the causal bacterium of sugarcane leaf scald disease. *Plant Disease* 83, 218-222
- Parmessur Y, Aljanabi S, Saumtally S, Dookun-Saumtally A (2002) Sugarcane yellow leaf virus and sugarcane yellows phytoplasma: Elimination by tissue-culture. *Plant Pathology* 51, 561-566
- Perera MF, Filippone MP, Ramallo CJ, Cuenya MrI, García ML, Ploper LD, Castagnaro AP (2009) Genetic diversity among viruses associated with sugarcane mosaic disease in Tucumán, Argentina. *Phytopathology* 99, 38-49
- Raboin LM, Selvi, A, Oliveira KM, Paulet F, Calatayud C, Zapater MF, Brottier P, Luzaran R, Garsmeur O, Carlier J, D'Hont A (2006) Evidence for the dispersal of a unique lineage from Asia to America and Africa in the sugarcane fungal pathogen Ustilago scitaminea. Fungal Genetics and Biology 44, 64-76
- Ramgareeb S, Snyman SJ, van Antwerpen T, Rutherford RS (2010) Elimination of virus and rapid propagation of disease-free sugarcane (Saccharum spp. cultivar NCo376) using apical meristem culture. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 100, 175-181

- Ricaud C, Ryan CC (1989) Leaf scald. In: Ricaud C, Egan BT, Gillaspie Jr. AG, Hughes CG (Eds) *Diseases of Sugarcane: Major Diseases*, Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam, pp 39-58
- Rishi N, Chen CT (1989) Grassy shoot and white leaf diseases. In: Ricaud C, Egan BT, Gillaspie Jr. AG, Hughes CG (Eds) *Diseases of Sugarcane: Major Diseases*, Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam, pp 289-300
- Rott P, Mirkov TE, Schenck S, Girard J-C (2008) Recent advances in research on sugarcane yellow leaf virus, the causal agent of sugarcane yellow leaf. *Sugar Cane International* **26**, 18-22
- Rott P, Bailey RA, Comstock JC, Croft BJ, Sauntally AS (Eds) (2000) REPERES Series *A Guide to Sugarcane Diseases*, CIRAD Publishing Services, Montpellier, France and ISSCT 2000, 315 pp
- Rutherford RS, McFarlane SA, van Antwerpen T, McFarlane K (2003) Use of varieties to minimise losses from sugarcane diseases in South Africa. Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association 77, 180-188
- Rutherford RS, Brune AE, Nuss KJ (2004) Current status of research on sugarcane yellow leaf syndrome in southern Africa. *Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association* **78**, 173-180
- Rybicki EP, Hughes FL (1990) Detection and typing of maize streak virus and other distantly related Gemini viruses of grasses by polymerase chain reaction amplification of a conserved viral sequence. *Journal of General Virology* 71, 2519-2526
- Scagliusi SM, Lockhart BEL (2000) Transmission, characterization, and serology of a luteovirus associated with yellow leaf syndrome of sugarcane. *Phy*topathology 90, 120-124
- Schenck S (2001) Sugarcane yellow leaf syndrome: history and current concepts. In: Rao GP, Ford RE, Tosic M, Teakle DS (Eds) Sugarcane Pathology (Vol 2) Virus and Phytoplasma Diseases, Science Publisher Inc., Enfield, USA, pp 23-35
- Schenck S, Hu JS, Lockhart BEL (1997) Use of tissue blot immuno assay to determine the distribution of sugarcane yellow leaf virus in Hawaii. Sugar Cane 4, 5-8
- Singh SP, Rao GP, Singh J, Singh SB (1997) Effect of sugarcane mosaic potyvirus infection on metabolic activities, yield and juice quality of two sugarcane varieties. *Sugar Cane* 5, 19-23
- Shukla DD, Frenkel MJ, McKern NM, Ward CW, Jilka J, Tosic M, Ford RE (1992) Present status of the sugarcane mosaic subgroup of potyviruses. *Archives Virology Supplement* 5, 363-373
- Smith GR (2000) Fiji disease. In: Rott P, Bailey RA, Comstock JC, Croft BJ, Saumtally AS (Eds) A guide to Sugarcane Diseases, CIRAD, ISSCT, pp 239-244
- Smith GR, Van De Velde R (1994) Detection of sugarcane mosaic virus and Fiji disease virus in diseased sugarcane using the polymerase chain reaction. *Plant Disease* **78**, 557–561
- Snyman SJ, Meyer GM, Koch AC, Banasiak M, Watt MP (2011) Applications of *in vitro* culture systems for commercial sugarcane production and improvement. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology-Plant* 47, 234-249
- Snyman SJ, van Antwerpen T, Ramdeen V, Meyer GM, Richards JM, Rutherford RS (2007) Micropropagation by direct somatic embryogenesis: is disease elimination also a possibility? *Proceedings of the International Society of Sugar Cane Technologists* 26, 943-947
- Taylor PWJ, Dukic S (1993) Development of an *in vitro* technique for the conservation of *Saccharum* spp. hybrid germplasm. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 34, 217-222
- Teakle DS, Smith PM, Steindl DRL (1973) Association of a small coryneform bacterium with the ratoon stunting disease of sugarcane. *Australian Journal* of Agricultural Research 24, 869-874
- van Antwerpen T, Rutherford RS (2008) Increased risk of new virus infections in the South African sugarcane industry: Preparing for the future. Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association 81, 365-380
- van Antwerpen T, Botha FC (1999) Development of a DNA-based diagnostic method to detect sugarcane bacterial pathogens with emphasis on *Clavibacter xyli* subsp *xyli*. Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association 73, 128-133
- van Antwerpen T, Bailey RA, Subramoney DS, McFarlane K, Rutherford RS, Nuss KJ (2005) Eighty years of sugarcane quarantine in South Africa. Sugar Cane International 24, 9-12
- van Antwerpen T, Rutherford RS (2008) Increased risk on new virus infections in the South African sugarcane industry: Preparing for the future. Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association 81, 365-380
- Vega J, Scagliusi SM, Ulian EC (1997) Sugarcane yellow leaf disease in Brazil: Evidence for associating with a luteovirus. *Plant Disease* 81, 21-26
- Victoria JI, Guzmán ML, Garcés F, Jaramillo AD (1999) Pathogen-free seedcane production and its impact on a commercial scale in Colombia. Proceedings of the International Society of Sugar Cane Technologists 23, 390-397
- Viswanathan R, Samiyappan R (2002) Induced systemic resistance by fluorescent pseudomonads against red rot disease of sugarcane caused by *Colletotrichum falcatum. Crop Protection* 21, 1-10
- Viswanathan R, Balamuralikrishnan M (2005) Impact of mosaic infection on growth and yield of sugarcane. Sugar Tech 7, 61-65
- Visessuwan R, Chiemsombat P, Chanprame S, Naritoom K, Kuhapitaktharm R (1991) Detection of sugarcane mosaic virus in sugarcane plantlets

derived from meristem culture. Kasetsart Journal 25, 1-4

- Visessuwan R, Chiemsombat P, Naritoom K, Surijachaijakorn M (1999) Role of growth regulators in meristem culture and production of virus free sugarcane germplasm. *Sugar Tech* **1**, 82-88
- Viswanathan R, Karuppaiah R, Balamuralikrishnan M (2009) Identification of new variants of SCMV causing sugarcane mosaic in India and assessing their genetic diversity in relation to SCMV type strains. *Virus Genes* 39, 375-386
- Visessuwan R, Korpraditskul W, Attathom S, Klinkong S (1988) Production of virus free sugarcane by tissue culture. *Kasetsart Journal* 22, 30-36
- Wagih M, Gordon GH, Ryan CC, Adkins SW (1995) Development of an axillary bud culture technique for Fiji disease virus elimination in sugarcane. *Australian Journal of Botany* 43, 135-143
- Wang Q, Cuellar WJ, Rajamaki M-L, Hirata Y, Valkonen JPT (2007) Combined thermotherapy and cryotherapy for efficient virus eradication: relation of virus distribution, subcellular changes, cell survival and viral RNA degradation in shoot tips. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 8, 1-14
- Wongkaew P, Fletcher J (2004) Sugarcane white leaf phytoplasma in tissue culture: Long term maintenance, transmission and oxytetracycline remission. *Plant Cell Reports* 23, 426-434
- Xie Y, Wang M, Xu D, Li R, Zhou G (2009) Simultaneous detection and identification of four sugarcane viruses by one-step RT-PCR. *Journal of Virologi*cal Methods 162, 64-68

- Yang ZN, Mirkov TE (1997) Sequence and relationships of sugarcane mosaic and sorghum mosaic virus strains and development of RT-PCR-based RFLP's for strain discrimination. *Phytopathology* 87, 932-939
- Young AJ, Petrasovits LA, Croft BJ, Gillings M, Brumbley SM (2006) Genetic uniformity of international isolates of *Leifsonia xyli* subsp. *xyli*, causal agent of ratoon stunting disease of sugarcane. *Australasian Plant Pathol*ogy **35**, 503-511
- Zheng L, Rodoni BC, Gibbs MJ, Gibbs A (2010) A novel pair of primers for the detection of potyviruses. *Plant Pathology* 59, 211-220
- Zhu YJ, Lim STS, Schenck S, Arcinas A, Komor E (2010) RT-PCR and quantitative real-time RT-PCR detection of Sugarcane Yellow Leaf Virus (ScYLV) in symptomatic and asymptomatic plants of Hawaiian sugarcane cultivars and the correlation of ScYLV titre to yield. European Journal of Plant Pathology 127, 263-273
- Zhu YJ, McCafferty H, Osterman G, Lim S, Agbayani R, Lehrer A, Schenck S, Komor E (2011) Genetic transformation with untranslatable coat protein gene of sugarcane yellow leaf virus reduces virus titers in sugarcane. *Transgenic Research* 20, 503-512
- Zhang MQ, Rao GP, Gaur RK, Ruan MH, Singh M, Sharma SR, Singh A, Singh P (2006) Sugarcane mosaic virus. In: Rao GP, Khurana P, Lenardon SL (Eds) Characterisation, Diagnosis and Management of Plant Viruses (Vol 1) Industrial Crops, Stadium Press, Texas, USA, pp 111-144